Advancing gender equity in Southeast Asia agriculture for sustainable and resilient biosecurity

> By Dominique Anne S. Aluquin, Jo Yi Chow, & P.T. Nhean

Dominique Anne S. Aluquin (Philippines), SingHealth Duke-NUS Global Health Institute, National University of Singapore, Singapore
Jo Yi Chow (Malaysia), Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore
P.T. Nhean (Cambodia), Independent Biosecurity Researcher, Cambodia



Acknowledgements

We would like to express our heartfelt thanks to Anemone Franz, Emma Sol Alegi, and Ayelet Berman for their invaluable insights during our interviews. Their depth of knowledge and expertise in biosecurity and gender equity in agriculture significantly enriched our understanding and shaped our analysis.

Additionally, we are grateful to Ryan Teo and Shrestha Rath for their critical comments and guidance in structuring and contextualizing our essay. Their contributions were essential in enhancing the clarity and coherence of our arguments.

Our research benefited immensely from the support and collaboration of each of these individuals, and we extend our sincere appreciation for their contributions to our team's work.

This paper was produced for the 2024 Next Generation for Biosecurity Competition. Visit <u>nti.org/nextgenbio</u> for more information.

The 2024 Next Generation for Biosecurity Competition was sponsored by the Nuclear Threat Initiative, in partnership with the 80,000 Hours, the Global Health Security Network, the iGEM Foundation, the International Federation of Biosafety Associations, the Next Generation Global Health Security Network, Pandemic Action Network, SynBio Africa, and Women of Color Advancing Peace, Security, and Conflict Transformation.



The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors alone, and do not necessarily reflect those of the sponsoring organizations, members of their Board of Directors or institutions with which they are associated, or any external experts involved with judging the competition.

© 2024 Nuclear Threat Initiative

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Table of Contents

| Acknowledgements2 |
|--|
| Executive Summary4 |
| Background4 |
| Discussion6 |
| Agriculture as a Neglected Dimension in National Security |
| Challenges and Dual Roles of Women in SEA Agriculture: Impacts on Biosecurity6 |
| Leveraging Gender Equity in Agriculture for Enhanced Disease Control and Prevention7 |
| Investments into Female Farmers' Participation Creates Positive Feedback for Sustainability of Global Biosecurity Capacity Building7 |
| Recommendations9 |
| 1. Financial Investment |
| 2. Meaningful Inclusion |
| 3. Sociocultural Understanding 11 |
| 4. Case Study: Thailand 11 |
| Conclusion 12 |
| Appendix |
| Appendix A. Supplementary Information on the SEED Framework with Corresponding Assumptions and Confidence Levels |
| Appendix B. Summary of Potential Metrics for Recommendations |
| Appendix C. Performance Metrics for Biosecurity, Biosafety, and Public Health Response from the Global Health Security (GHS) Index |
| Appendix D. List of Experts Consulted 17 |
| Appendix E. References 17 |

Executive Summary

Southeast Asia (SEA) is a region of critical biosecurity concern due to its rich biodiversity, dense human populations, tropical climates, and porous borders—all of which facilitate the emergence and spread of infectious diseases. Agriculture is a key economic sector, employing a large portion of the population and contributing significantly to most national gross domestic products (GDPs). Southeast Asia is also one of the top three regions in the world most prone to agro-terrorism and agro-crime, next to the Middle East and North Africa. Gender-specific disparities in risk are evident due to the varying activities engaged in by men and women. Women are pivotal in agriculture, being accountable for more than half of the world's food production. Although that makes them the majority of frontline responders, vulnerable to deliberate biological risks, they're also the key to reducing such catastrophic risks coming from agriculture.

Despite their significant roles, women often lack access to proper training and are underrepresented in decision-making platforms, limiting their capacity to implement effective biosecurity measures. To address these challenges, biosecurity investments in Southeast Asia must be needs-based, integrating financial support with meaningful participation and sociocultural understanding. This can lead to a cultural shift wherein women are intentionally involved, adequately informed of the biorisks, and educated on biosecurity prevention and response strategies in the agricultural sector. The framework focuses on strengthening capacity building of female farmers in Southeast Asia, given their shared role in the fields, responsibility for livestock, and household activities.

By taking on a gender-sensitive approach, capacity-building programs can address training and education inequities of female farmers. This recommendation proposes a framework called **Sustainable Empowerment and Equity for Disease Prevention (SEED)**, that advocates for empowering women through gender-earmarked funds, meaningful inclusion, and sociocultural understanding, while acknowledging the connectedness of animal, environment, and human health. This will not only help bridge the gender gap but also foster security and resilience in agricultural practices.

Background

Globally, the deliberate and accidental misuse of biological sciences and disease spillover between species pose significant biological risks to humans, animals, and plants. However, biological threats vary by country.¹ SEA is a hotspot for zoonotic spillover,² driven by climate change, land-use change, interactions with diverse animal species, and the trade and consumption of wild animal meat.³ With agriculture as a primary economic driver in the region,⁴ it is notable that 74 percent of the increased infectious disease risk for humans comes from agricultural land-use.⁵ In 2018, The World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE), the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), and the International Criminal Police Organization (INTERPOL) identified SEA as one of the top three regions most vulnerable to agro-terrorism and agro-crime, and, if production were disrupted, it could devastate the food chain in the global market.⁶ As a response, an initiative led by Indonesia, known as ASEAN One Health Joint Plan of Action, called for collaboration across human, animal, plant, and environmental health among the ASEAN member states.⁷ It is clear that SEA has acknowledged the importance of biosecurity practices through early

planning efforts, especially with the United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute (UNICRI).⁸ Combined with recent naturally occurring disease outbreaks in SEA, including Nipah (Malaysia 1999), SARS (2003), H1N1 (2009), and SARS-CoV-2 (2019), this makes SEA a unique regional intersection between agriculture, security, and defense.

Women are integral to agriculture, responsible for up to 80 percent of global food production.⁹ Although agriculture was traditionally seen as men's work in SEA, the Feminisation of Agriculture (FoA) has become prominent in recent years.¹⁰ Despite this trend, systemic gender inequities persist, where a study from 2019 revealed that women are often not recognized as farmers by their peers and are excluded from capacity development initiatives, even as they are expected to adapt to agricultural innovations.¹¹ Beyond agriculture, SEA women are involved in caregiving¹² and community health care.¹³ Gender inequity exacerbates their vulnerability to biological risks because women would likely comprise most frontline responders to biological threats. Research shows that women frequently lack access to biosecurity training, resources, and decision making on broad biological threats reduction platforms.¹⁴ A study on African Swine Fever (ASF) in Uganda found that typical gender assumptions in biosecurity negatively impact the implementation of biosecurity measures that manage biological risks to human, animal, and plants health.¹⁵ This exclusion not only undermines the effectiveness of biosecurity measures but also exacerbates already existing gender inequalities.

Women who receive support in training, knowledge sharing, and emotional encouragement succeed and often move into decision-making and leadership roles.¹⁶ However, empowerment efforts must also consider SEA's diverse priorities, ecosystems, cultures, and religions. According to Emma Alegi, a Gender Specialist at the United Nations' FAO, meaningful participation requires communication and empathy grounded in cultural understanding. For instance, although American approaches to women's empowerment in agriculture emphasize strong leadership and ownership,¹⁷ SEA might benefit more from needs-oriented initiatives focusing on current necessities (e.g., women's involvement in a Muslim-dominated country like Indonesia, where women either are refrained from or chose not to participate in biosecurity implementation).

Thus, we propose a needs-based biosecurity investment strategy for Southeast Asian women that ties financial investment with meaningful participation and sociocultural understanding. We believe that this strategy is not only a foundation to bridging the gender gap in biosecurity measures in SEA, but also reinforces One Health while ensuring that women are equipped and empowered to contribute effectively to minimize risks from deliberate and accidental misuse through agricultural framing.

Discussion

Agriculture as a Neglected Dimension in National Security

Despite the critical role of agriculture in national stability and its historical targeting by bioterrorism, national security strategies often prioritize human-centric threats like terrorism and geopolitical tensions.¹⁸ These focuses overshadow agricultural concerns, which are seen more as economic or developmental issues rather than integral components of national security. Consequently, the risks posed by biothreats to agriculture, which can destabilize nations by undermining both their economics and the health of their populations, are often overlooked. This issue is particularly pronounced in SEA, which relies heavily on agriculture for both local consumption¹⁹ and international export markets.²⁰ This oversight was evident in the delayed responses and underfunded preventive measures for controlling ASF's spread in the region.²¹ Despite the severe impact on pork production—an economic staple in the region²²—initial responses lacked coordinated efforts that are typically reserved for threats perceived as directly impacting human safety or economic stability.

The agricultural industry, being an interface of human, animal, plant, and environmental components, is uniquely positioned to act as a sentinel and barrier against biological threats. Given that 80 percent of pathogens with bioterrorism potential are zoonotic (e.g., Yersinia pestis [plague] or Bacillus anthracis [anthrax]),²³ and that SEA is particularly vulnerable to agro-terrorism, integrating One Health strategies (e.g., ASEAN One Health Joint Plan of Action) into national security to enhance agricultural biosecurity is paramount. Developing joint response mechanisms between the national defense and agricultural sectors can rapidly mobilize resources during an agro-biosecurity threat, ensuring that the agricultural sector is not isolated in its response by enabling it to quickly draw upon broader governmental and military support, thus enhancing the effectiveness of response strategies.

Challenges and Dual Roles of Women in SEA Agriculture: Impacts on Biosecurity

Agriculture in SEA predominantly features smallholder farms, many managed by women,²⁴ who represent 26.7 percent of the agricultural workforce—considerably higher than the 3.5 percent observed in OECD countries.²⁵ FoA in SEA challenges traditional gender roles, with women increasingly becoming primary farm managers and accessing productive resources.²⁶ However, persistent patriarchal cultures, male-favored inheritance practices, and gender-insensitive land policies undermine true autonomy of SEA female farmers, leading to land registration under men's names²⁷ and agricultural training programs frequently catered toward men.²⁸ Consequently, women's roles in SEA agriculture are not given the appropriate weight, limiting their long-term control over the farms.

Women in SEA also frequently serve as primary familial caregivers.²⁹ Their dual responsibilities in agriculture and family care increase their risk of contracting **and** transmitting zoonotic diseases.³⁰ The region's porous borders amplify these biological risks,³¹ potentially escalating local outbreaks into broader public health emergencies. Recurrent natural disasters and chronic food insecurity further strain resources,³² diverting attention from long-term biological risk reduction planning.



Despite their pivotal roles, SEA female farmers still face barriers in accessing agricultural training and are underrepresented in decision making,³³ impairing their capacity to adopt effective biosecurity measures. Key barriers include prioritizing men in existing training initiatives, the absence of culturally adapted training materials, and sociocultural constraints that limit women's participation.³⁴ Women also disproportionately receive only 7 percent of agricultural investments, despite comprising a significant portion of the industry.³⁵

Leveraging Gender Equity in Agriculture for Enhanced Disease Control and Prevention

However, targeted investments in female farmers' education to manage biological and biosecurity risks have enhanced agricultural practices in other regions. For example, the FAO's gender-focused communication strategies in Africa have reduced animal disease outbreaks by targeting women,³⁶ the primary caretakers of livestock. Female farmers are also more likely to engage in sustainable practices³⁷ and produce higher-quality crops³⁸ than their male counterparts, reducing the need for deforestation, which typically compounds zoonotic risks due to increased contact with disease reservoirs.³⁹ Furthermore, investing in their learning not only strengthens a crucial segment of the SEA agricultural community but paves the way for generational knowledge transfer about best practices in agricultural biological threat reduction.⁴⁰ Women's extensive involvement in both agriculture and childcare uniquely positions them to educate the next generation from an early age, fostering a culture of awareness and preparedness. Thus, addressing gender disparities in biosecurity becomes not merely a matter of fairness, but also one of effectiveness. On the other hand, uneven access to information exacerbates gendered exposure risks,⁴¹ exemplified by the Ebola outbreak where the exclusion of women from education and response meetings contributed to the disease's spread, highlighting the implications of withholding crucial information from vulnerable groups.

The momentum for empowering women is growing through female-specific programs advocating for gender-equitable farming subsidies,⁴² increased ownership of farming equipment, and greater educational involvement.⁴³ These programs could enhance biosecurity discussions by leveraging women's social capital and networks to build bridges across divided communities, thereby improving pathogen surveillance, detection, and containment, bolstering the overall biological threat reduction network. Studies from Sudan⁴⁴ and India⁴⁵ demonstrate the effectiveness of leveraging women as hubs in social networks for vaccine advocacy, leading to increases in vaccination rates and benefiting entire communities.

Investments into Female Farmers' Participation Creates Positive Feedback for Sustainability of Global Biosecurity Capacity Building

At the community level, tailoring capacity-building programs to address the specific challenges women face in agriculture equips them with opportunities to overcome their unique obstacles. These programs can enhance women's agricultural skills, offering a step into meaningful participation in agricultural decision making that impacts biosecurity, such as crop selection and animal vaccination. Additionally, these programs can educate women about land rights and develop their advocacy skills for equitable ownership, initiating positive feedback loops of community mobilization that boosts women's confidence to assert their rights and assume

leadership roles,⁴⁶ thereby improving their capacity to lead biosecurity and biological risk reduction measures on their managed farms. Although capacity-building workshops are not a silver bullet, they are crucial in a broader strategy for sociocultural change and policy reform aimed at helping SEA female farmers overcome barriers like lack of financing and information, and discriminatory norms.⁴⁷

Women's active involvement in biosecurity also brings perspectives that might otherwise be overlooked.⁴⁸ Currently, numerous existing global initiatives are aimed at promoting women's equity in agriculture by enhancing their access to resources,⁴⁹ with frameworks emphasizing the importance of gender equality across sectors.⁵⁰ However, these initiatives can be further leveraged by incorporating a biosecurity perspective. Providing a model for agricultural ministries to develop gender-sensitive agricultural biosecurity policies ensures women's voices are heard, fool-proofing biosecurity policies by filling unseen gaps.⁵¹

In governance, policy development is the key mechanism for promoting gender equity in agricultural biosecurity efforts. For example, the Philippines' Gender and Development Budget Policy mandates that a portion of government budgets be allocated to gender equality programs.⁵² These funds could support participatory programs for women, developing culturally sensitive agricultural biosecurity policies. Given the demonstrated effectiveness of socially sensitive policies in enhancing compliance across health systems and other sectors,⁵³ agricultural biosecurity policies that actively engage women and integrate their insights are likely to be more effective.⁵⁴ Such inclusion not only improves immediate response efficacy, but also builds resilience within agricultural communities, establishing robust defenses against biosecurity threats.

By empowering female farmers with the right tools and knowledge, their capacity to prevent and respond effectively to these threats can be significantly enhanced, thereby reinforcing the agricultural sector's role in national security. This approach not only fortifies biosecurity measures but also ensures that women's contributions are recognized and integrated into the broader security framework, enhancing the resilience and responsiveness of health and defense strategies at the national and regional levels.



Recommendations

Although financial support can spur equity-focused activities, meaningful inclusion and addressing sociocultural needs encourage organizations and governments to move beyond tokenistic initiatives. To sustainably address inequities, activities must foster a cultural shift that intentionally includes women, especially in agricultural communities, and provides them with necessary resources for improved disease mitigation.

This framework acknowledges the cyclical relationship between policy and practice, where each informs and strengthens the other. Such initiatives enable women to better address health security risks through enhanced disease control, surveillance efforts, and knowledge of better environmental agriculture practices, thereby reducing biological risks.



The Sustainable Empowerment and Equity for Disease Prevention (SEED) Framework (see Figure 1)

Figure 1. SEED Framework

1. Financial Investment

In SEA, the Japan-ASEAN Women Empowerment Fund (JAWEF), managed by BlueOrchard, pools private investments to strengthen Japan-ASEAN relations through women's empowerment.⁵⁵ A cost-benefit analysis revealed that a gender-transformative approach in education and addressing gender inequalities yields a 410 percent return on investment (ROI), compared to 270 percent for addressing the gender gap alone, and 30 percent for a control group.⁵⁶



The framework proposes establishing a **Women for Biosecurity (W4B)** group under JAWEF. This group would focus on capacity building and consist of experts, advocates, representatives, and trainers. They would implement frameworks, provide training, raise awareness, and oversee activities related to deliberate biological risks and public health emergency preparedness for women. For instance, W4B would ensure that veterinarians are trained and dispatched to educate women on animal health risks and detection.

To maximize W4B's potential, we suggest a multi-layered funding approach, either as an alternative or complementary source:

- **Donors:** private, non-governmental, and philanthropic organizations like Open Philanthropy, Global Partnerships, and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation.
- **Governmental Partners:** grants from health ministries within implementing countries, FAO partnership.
- **Regional Partners:** annual contributions from ASEAN member states and women-focused intergovernmental organizations such as UN Women for SEA.
- Women as Donors: encourage middle- to high-income women to donate 10 percent of their income.

2. Meaningful Inclusion

This involves both ensuring diverse representation and valuing diverse perspectives. Adapting the Lundy Model of Participation,⁵⁷ key aspects include space, voice, audience, and influence. Space ensures inclusion in discussions, voice provides a platform for their opinions, audience involves attentive stakeholders with decision-making power, and influence ensures needs are addressed. For women in SEA agriculture, this means sharing their lived experiences, having leadership positions, and implementing programs to improve their quality of life.

In most ASEAN countries, women in agriculture earn less than men, discouraging women from engaging in employment.⁵⁸ Women are often excluded from high-level decision-making positions, with only 6 percent serving as ministers in environment-related ministries, including agriculture.⁵⁹ Female leadership reduces tokenistic participation and ensures equitable gender-sensitive investments. The SEED Framework ensures that women in agriculture will have all the tools and policies in place to support their decision making in biosecurity interventions around SEA.

This is reflected in the framework through the following activities:

- **Space:** forums and workshops are held for local female farmers facilitated by a group of W4B members and local government agents (mayor, agricultural minister, Agroecology Learning Alliance in SEA representative).
- **Voice:** biosecurity advisory committee for sub-national and national levels with female representatives led by ASEAN Women's Network for Biosafety and Biosecurity.
- **Audience:** W4B works to ensure attentive audiences are gathered from ASEAN Women's Network for Biosafety and Biosecurity, agricultural ministry, mayor, and/or donors.
- **Influence:** executive officials and local governments of ASEAN implement gender-sensitive, culturally sound policies that address the barriers for women to participate in biosecurity interventions.

3. Sociocultural Understanding

Addressing animal health and biosecurity risks in SEA requires communication through a cultural lens to foster local trust and cooperation. A study on raising H5N1 awareness in Cambodia highlighted the difficulty of using technical rationale over approaches aligned with farmers' sociocultural beliefs.⁶⁰ This underscores the importance of local taxonomy because conflicting terms hinder behavioral change.⁶¹

This framework recommends W4B to partner with the ASEAN Women's Network for Biosafety and Biosecurity to support establishing local community leaders who will be responsible for community sociocultural needs assessment pre- and post-training, and equitable distribution of resources (e.g., manuals, PPE, testing kits, disinfectants, access to information and technology). The needs assessment will serve as a basis to guide trainers on capacity-building methods, and modules relevant to each local group.

Additionally, to foster sociocultural understanding beyond local levels, the ASEAN Women Entrepreneurs Network should provide a platform for women representatives from rural provinces and smallholder farms to advocate for their specific needs and showcase their activities in biosecurity interventions.⁶²

Suggested metrics for finance, meaningful inclusion, and sociocultural understanding recommendations can be found in Appendix B.

4. SEED Framework Application in Thailand

Given that Thailand is a leader in SEA for health security and gender equality based on the GHS Index and Global Gender Gap Report (see Appendix C), it provides a good backdrop to issues surrounding the role of women in agriculture and how the framework could be used in their context. Thailand's 12.7 million smallholder farmers account for 18 percent of the total population and contribute to 6.2 percent of the country's agricultural GDP.⁶³ On a national level, 27 percent of employment in agriculture is female, ⁶⁴ but one study reported that this percentage can be as high as 60 percent in some provinces.⁶⁵ This statistic does not include informal or unpaid work by women who spend 3.5 times more time on these activities than their partners.⁶⁶

Along the border of Thailand, there is an equal men-to-women ratio involved in raising poultry.⁶⁷ Poultry farms, especially small ones with fewer disease prevention measures, have a high risk of avian influenza. Female farmers mainly raise poultry and help men with manual tasks, food preparation, and processing.⁶⁸ Despite their significant contribution, women's access to resources and training related to livestock are minimal.⁶⁹ This might be due to a lack of gender awareness in families, communities, and government, which maintains traditional beliefs that undervalue women's roles in agriculture.⁷⁰ The lack of attention to gender leads to men being the main or only target group for agricultural development.⁷¹

Female farmers face health risks and lack training, highlighting a gap in capacity building. This is reflected in a study done by FAO in Thailand on gender roles in the agricultural sector, rural women specifically expressed wanting to learn how to improve the management of poultry and small livestock diseases.⁷² In relation to the proposed financial policy and practice, Thailand would

benefit from educating women on deliberate and naturally occurring animal health risks through trained local veterinarians and greater funding being dedicated to such endeavours.

Although women in Thailand are members of agricultural and non-agricultural organizations, they do not have prominent leadership roles.⁷³ Research found that generally Thai women participated less in village groups, poorer and less-educated women faced barriers to joining women's group, and the selection process for trainings favored men.⁷⁴ The call for meaningful participation of women holds true in this country because women should not only be heard but also take part in decision making for initiatives that affect them and their communities. Despite some positive steps taken toward equitable investment, more needs to be done in Thailand and other parts of Southeast Asia.

Sociocultural understanding in the context of Thailand takes into consideration the cultural gender roles that exist within a household. Women are taught to obey rather than express their views, especially village women, so they lack the confidence to attend training courses outside their villages, contact government officials, or express their perspectives.⁷⁵ Taking this into account, when establishing a training program, it would be imperative to have this take place within villages, to limit the presence of government officials, and create a safe space for the women to share their experiences and thoughts. The participation of local women in the planning and implementation of such a program is essential to tailoring the training for female farmers in these provinces and allow for aspects of women empowerment to be embedded in these activities.

Some societies like Thailand and the Philippines are predominantly matrilineal, whereas others like Indonesia have a large Muslim population where religion plays a key role in women's mobility and communication between the sexes.⁷⁶ Given these differences in sociopolitical values, religion, family systems, and culture, women's role in agriculture in SEA differs and requires greater scrutiny at a community level.

Conclusion

Uplifting women in Southeast Asia's agriculture industry is not just about equity; it is essential for strengthening biosecurity interventions, reinforcing One Health, and building a society resilient to biorisks. Despite composing a large segment of the SEA agricultural community, female farmers are often marginalized and lack access to biosecurity training and resources. This gap heightens their vulnerability and cripples our collective ability to manage biosecurity risks effectively, particularly on smallholder farms with fewer disease prevention measures. If left unchecked, the porous borders of SEA could exacerbate the spread of infectious diseases from deliberate or accidental biorisk of agriculture, posing a global threat. However, actively enhancing the participation and leadership of SEA's marginalized female farmers at the intersection of agriculture, security, and defense can fortify one of the most vulnerable sectors in this high-risk region.

Strategic investments in female farmers not only benefit the women involved but also enhance community outcomes. Given women's dual roles, these investments are able to empower a crucial segment of the agricultural workforce and aid in generational knowledge transfer about best biosecurity practices. Utilizing women's unique perspectives and networks can also significantly improve pathogen surveillance, detection, and containment. However, many existing programs



supporting women in agriculture currently lack biosecurity components, highlighting the untapped potential of weaving biosecurity understanding into women-focused agricultural initiatives. This offers a strategy to strengthen both local and global biosecurity frameworks by empowering a large, marginalized segment of SEA's agricultural workforce.

Given this, the proposed SEED Framework offers a comprehensive blueprint for change, advocating for equitable investments through targeted financing, meaningful inclusion, and a deep understanding of the sociocultural dynamics at play. Incorporating these into policy and practices can catalyse a cultural shift that leads to improvement in both human-animal disease control and environmental damage, thereby supporting the joint plan of action for One Health and resulting in an overall reduction of biosecurity risks. This framework is contextualized using Thailand as a case study, showing the need and current initiatives dedicated to the intersection of gender, agriculture, and biosecurity in the region.

To conclude, ensuring that women have equitable opportunities to contribute to and lead in agriculture biosecurity efforts is **more than just an ethical imperative**—it is a **strategic necessity**. By empowering female farmers, we not only address ingrained inequalities but also strengthen our collective ability to manage biorisks. This investment in women is an investment in the future of global food chain security and community health, moving us closer to a world where gender equity is a reality, and empowered female farmers lead in creating healthy, prosperous, and biosecure communities.

2024

The SEED Framework

Appendix

Appendix A. Supplementary Information on the SEED Framework with Corresponding Assumptions and Confidence Levels



| Flow No. | Assumptions or Evidence | Confidence | |
|-------------|---|--------------|--|
| 1 | Studies and research will be enough to convince local governments to take actions. | Low – 35% | |
| 2&3 | Female representatives are willing enough to dedicate their time in training and open enough to allow new education materials to be integrated in their culture/communities. | Medium – 45% | |
| 4&5 | Distribution of knowledge and information is successful and women are open to further strengthening the effort. | Medium – 65% | |
| 7&8 | Women who are supported with resources, encouragement, and have the space to be involved are more likely to take on leadership roles and make more decisions. ⁷⁷ | High – 98% | |
| 9 | Improving disease control and surveillance systems greatly reduces the biological risk. ⁷⁸ Reducing damage to the environment also reduces the damage of climate change, thereby leading to a reduced risk of infectious diseases. ⁷⁹ | High – 95% | |

Appendix B. Summary of Potential Metrics for Recommendations

Financial

| Indicator | Metric | Reasoning |
|----------------------|--|--|
| Return on Investment | (Cost saved from reduced family medical bills + Increased earnings from better animal husbandry practices). Estimated cost of training female farmers. | Proposed ROI calculation based on perceived benefits that female farmers will attain from participating in training. |

| | Meaningful Inclusion | | | | | | | |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Indicator | Metric | Reasoning | | | | | |
| - | Proportion of women in senior and middle management positions | 15 percent increase in the percentage of women in leadership positions as reported by the International Labor Organization. | Current trends show less than 10 percent increase per year ⁸⁰ in the proportion of women in SEA in leadership positions, setting a goal of 15 percent increase pushes the boundaries of this trend and strives to encourage nations to do more to place women in leadership roles. | | | | | |
| | Proportion of women in parliamentary positions | 50 percent increase in the percentage of women in political leadership positions as reported by the Inter- Parliamentary Union. | Current trends show that the Philippines has the highest percentage of women in parliament at an average of 28 percent for lower and upper chamber whereas Malaysia had the lower proportion at 13.6 percent. ⁸¹ Setting a goal of a 50 percent increase pushes the envelope on what political gender inclusion currently looks like. | | | | | |
| | Proportion of women senior management positions in agricultural organizations | 50 percent increase in the percentage of women in senior management positions in agricultural organizations as reported by SEA nations. | By specifying leadership in agricultural organizations, this metric directly measures the gender ratio in this field. | | | | | |

Sociocultural Understanding

| Indicator | Metric | Reasoning |
|------------------------------|---|---|
| Participation of local women | At least 50 percent of the planning and implementation team are women from the local community. | Including women from the local community provides space for their knowledge to be integrated in programs targeting them. |
| Local women leaders | At least one local woman leader in every program impacting them. | Placing local women in positions of leadership for programs that impact them ensures that their voices are heard and prioritized. |



Appendix C. Performance Metrics for Biosecurity, Biosafety, and Public Health Response from the Global Health Security (GHS) Index

Performance metrics for biosecurity, biosafety, and public health response from the GHS Index,⁸² alongside gender gap index from the World Economic Forum (WEF)⁸³ for each SEA country. GHS scores range from 0–100, with higher values indicating better performance. The average score is derived from the adjacent metrics. The WEF Gender Gap Index ranges from 0–1, with higher scores reflecting better gender parity in economic participation, educational attainment, health, survival, and political empowerment.

| | (1.2) Zoonotic Disease | (1.3) Biosecurity | (1.4) Biosafety | (1.6) Immunization | (2.4) Surveillance data accessibility and transparency | (5.2) Cross-border agreements on public health and animal health emergency response | (5.5) Financing | (6.2) Socio- economic resilience | (6.4) Environmental risks | Average score across used GHS metrics | Gender Gap Index (2023) |
|-------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|---|--|-----------------|---|---------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|
| Thailand | 64.1 | 69.3 | 50 | 75 | 86.7 | 50 | 75 | 63.1 | 60.4 | 65.96 | 0.711 |
| Singapore | 19.7 | 28 | 100 | 75 | 66.7 | 0 | 50 | 77.6 | 52.7 | 52.19 | 0.739 |
| Malaysia | 23.9 | 44 | 0 | 75 | 60 | 50 | 50 | 83.2 | 67.5 | 50.40 | 0.682 |
| Vietnam | 26.1 | 24 | 50 | 75 | 43.3 | 50 | 50 | 54 | 66 | 48.71 | 0.711 |
| Brunei | 18.4 | 4 | 0 | 100 | 43.3 | 50 | 66.7 | 49.9 | 65 | 44.14 | 0.693 |
| Myanmar | 26.3 | 4 | 0 | 75 | 43.3 | 50 | 75 | 65.7 | 42.3 | 42.40 | 0.65 |
| Philippines | 17.3 | 24 | 0 | 50 | 53.3 | 50 | 50 | 77.4 | 46 | 40.89 | 0.791 |
| Indonesia | 42 | 24 | 0 | 50 | 20 | 50 | 62.5 | 67.1 | 47.5 | 40.34 | 0.697 |
| Cambodia | 40.6 | 0 | 0 | 75 | 60 | 50 | 41.7 | 44.3 | 29.3 | 37.88 | 0.695 |
| Lao PDR | 8 | 4 | 0 | 50 | 40 | 50 | 41.7 | 47.6 | 46.1 | 31.93 | 0.733 |
| Timor-Leste | 0 | 0 | 0 | 25 | 10 | 0 | 54.2 | 61.6 | 57.6 | 23.16 | 0.693 |

Appendix D. List of Experts Consulted

Anemone Franz, Fellow, Emerging Leaders in Biosecurity (ELBI)

Ayelet Berman, Associate Professor (Visiting) at NUS Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health Lead, Law & Governance at NUS Asia Centre for Health Security; Lead, Global Health Law at NUS Centre for International Law

Emma Alegi, Gender Specialist, Joint Centre for Zoonoses and Antimicrobial Resistance, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) Headquarters

Appendix E. References

¹ James Andrew Smith and Jonas B. Sandbrink, "Biosecurity in an Age of Open Science," *PLOS Biology* 20, no. 4 (April 14, 2022): e3001600, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3001600</u>; Jaime M. Yassif, Shayna Korol, and Angela Kane, "Guarding Against Catastrophic Biological Risks: Preventing State Biological Weapon Development and Use by Shaping Intentions," *Health Security* 21, no. 4 (August 1, 2023): 258–65,

https://doi.org/10.1089/hs.2022.0145; McKenzie N. Sparrer et al., "Role of Spillover and Spillback in SARS-CoV-2 Transmission and the Importance of One Health in Understanding the Dynamics of the COVID-19 Pandemic," *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 61, no. 7 (n.d.): e01610-22, https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.01610-22.

² Toph Allen et al., "Global Hotspots and Correlates of Emerging Zoonotic Diseases," *Nature Communications* 8 (October 24, 2017): 1124, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00923-8</u>.

³ Joel Henrique Ellwanger and José Artur Bogo Chies, "Zoonotic Spillover: Understanding Basic Aspects for Better Prevention," *Genetics and Molecular Biology* 44, no. 1 Suppl 1 (n.d.): e20200355, <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4685-GMB-2020-0355</u>.

⁴ "Southeast Asia—Trade, Agriculture, Manufacturing | Britannica," accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://www.britannica.com/place/Southeast-Asia/Economy</u>.

⁵ Hiral A. Shah et al., "Agricultural Land-Uses Consistently Exacerbate Infectious Disease Risks in Southeast Asia," *Nature Communications* 10, no. 1 (September 20, 2019): 4299, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12333-z</u>.

⁶ "Building Resilience against Agro-Terrorism and Agro-Crime," World Organisation for Animal Health, accessed July 25, 2024, <u>https://www.woah.org/en/article/building-resilience-against-agro-terrorism-and-agro-crime/</u>.

⁷ "Building Resilience against Agro-Terrorism and Agro-Crime."

⁸ "Biological Security Priorities in Southeast Asia: An Analysis of National Needs and Regional Trends" (United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute (UNICRI), November 2020).

⁹ "Enabling an Equal World for Indigenous Women in the Time of Climate Crisis | Heinrich Böll Foundation | Southeast Asia Regional Office," accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://th.boell.org/en/2020/03/07/enabling-equal-world-indigenous-women-time-climate-crisis</u>.

¹⁰ Stephen Owambo Oloo, Alessandra Galiè, and Nils Teufel, "Is Agricultural Labour Feminizing in South and South East Asia: Analysis of Demography and Health Services Data on Women and Work," *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 7 (July 11, 2023), <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2023.1114503</u>.

¹¹ Oloo, Galiè, and Teufel, "Is Agricultural Labour Feminizing in South and South East Asia."



¹² "Invest in the Care Economy to Empower Women and Build Resilient Societies in Southeast Asia, Says New SIGI Report - OECD," accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://www.oecd.org/development/gender-development/invest-in-</u> care-economy-empower-women-build-resilient-societies-southeast-asia.htm.

¹³ "Women's Leadership in the ASEAN Region: Data Snapshot," accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://data.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/documents/Publications/ASEAN/ASEAN%20-leadership-factsheet.pdf</u>.

¹⁴ Ni Gst Ag Gde Eka Martiningsih, "Gender and the Issues of Biosecurity's Management in the Community: Overview from Case Study in Bali," *International Journal of Applied Science and Sustainable Development (IJASSD)* 1, no. 2 (September 5, 2019), <u>https://e-journal.unmas.ac.id/index.php/IJASSD/article/view/512</u>.

¹⁵ Michel Dione et al., "Gendered Perceptions of Biosecurity and the Gender Division of Labor in Pig Farming in Uganda," *Journal of Gender, Agriculture and Food Security (Agri-Gender)* 5, no. 2 (2020): 13–26, https://doi.org/10.19268/JGAFS.522020.2.

¹⁶ A. Galiè and C. R. Farnworth, "Power through: A New Concept in the Empowerment Discourse," *Global Food Security* 21 (June 1, 2019): 13–17, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2019.07.001</u>.

¹⁷ "Women's Empowerment in Agriculture," n.d.

¹⁸ "Not Only the Dragon: Understanding Southeast Asia's Complex Security Landscape," Lowy Institute, accessed July 25, 2024, <u>https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/not-only-dragon-understanding-southeast-asia-s-complex-security-landscape</u>; Marvin Ott, "Southeast Asian Security: A Regional Perspective," in *Homeland Security Digital Library*, accessed July 25, 2024, <u>https://www.hsdl.org/c/abstract/</u>.

¹⁹ "Southeast Asia Must Narrow Down the Yield Gap to Continue to Be a Major Rice Bowl," Nature Food, accessed July 25, 2024, <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/s43016-022-00477-z</u>.

²⁰ russell Martin, "Palm Oil: Economic and Environmental Impacts," n.d.

²¹ Matthew Scott Luskin et al., "African Swine Fever Threatens Southeast Asia's 11 Endemic Wild Pig Species," *Conservation Letters* 14, no. 3 (2021): e12784, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12784</u>; Peter Andrew Windsor, "Perspectives on Progression of Transboundary Disease, One Health and Ecosystem Health Management in the Greater Mekong Subregion and Beyond," ed. Stephen Walkden-Brown, *Animal Production Science* 64, no. 11 (July 18, 2024), <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/an23431</u>.

²² GIEWS Update: East and Southeast Asia, "African Swine Fever Is Rapidly Spreading in East and Southeast Asia Threatening Food Security and Livelihoods of Households Relying on Pig Farming," World | ReliefWeb, July 2, 2019, <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/world/giews-update-east-and-southeast-asia-african-swine-fever-rapidly-spreadingeast-and.</u>

²³ "Zoonoses—The One Health Approach—CDC Yellow Book 2024," accessed July 25, 2024, https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2024/environmental-hazards-risks/zoonoses-one-health-approach-.

²⁴ "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries," ASEAN Main Portal, accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://asean.org/book/strengthening-womens-entrepreneurship-in-agriculture-in-asean-countries/;</u> Oloo, Galiè, and Teufel, "Is Agricultural Labour Feminizing in South and South East Asia"; "ASEAN Action Plan on Fall Armyworm Control," Grow Asia Exchange, accessed May 25, 2024, <u>http://exchange.growasia.org/asean-action-plan-fall-armyworm-control</u>.

²⁵ "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries."

²⁶ "ASEAN Action Plan on Fall Armyworm Control."

²⁷ "Women's Land Rights in Asia," November 23, 2017, <u>https://www.landportal.org/node/63113</u>.

²⁸ "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries."

²⁹ "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries"; "Unseen Guardians: The Silent Struggle of Thailand's Women Informal Caregivers," accessed May 24, 2024, https://www.who.int/thailand/news/feature-stories/detail/unseen-guardians--the-silent-struggle-of-thailand-s-women-informal-caregivers; "A Gender-Inclusive Southeast Asia through Entrepreneurship—New Insights at the Interface of Gender Equality and Business," The Sasakawa Peace Foundation, accessed May 25, 2024, https://www.spf.org/en/gender/publications/20190624.html.

³⁰ Jundi Liu et al., "Caregivers: The Potential Infection Resources for the Sustaining Epidemic of Hand, Foot, and Mouth Disease/Herpangina in Guangdong, China?," *Archives of Public Health* 79, no. 1 (April 23, 2021): 54, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-021-00574-8.

³¹ Emily Valentin Castriciones and Viji Vijayan, "Biosecurity Risk Mapping and Gap Analysis in South East Asia," *Journal of Biosafety and Biosecurity* 2, no. 1 (March 1, 2020): 36–43, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobb.2020.03.001</u>.

³² Robert Heckert et al., "International Biosafety and Biosecurity Challenges: Suggestions for Developing Sustainable Capacity in Low-Resource Countries," *Applied Biosafety* 16 (December 1, 2011): 223–30, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/153567601101600404</u>; Murray Hiebert and Danielle Fallin, "Security Challenges of Climate Change in Southeast Asia," October 5, 2021, <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/security-challenges-climate-changesoutheast-asia</u>; Richard J Coker et al., "Emerging Infectious Diseases in Southeast Asia: Regional Challenges to Control," *Lancet (London, England)* 377, no. 9765 (2011): 599–609, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62004-</u><u>1</u>.

³³ Marie Lisa Dacanay, "Want to Beat Poverty in South-East Asia? Start by Supporting Its Women Farmers," Views & Voices, March 30, 2022, <u>https://views-voices.oxfam.org.uk/2022/03/want-to-beat-poverty-in-south-east-asia-start-by-supporting-its-women-farmers/</u>.

³⁴ "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries"; "A Gender-Inclusive Southeast Asia through Entrepreneurship—New Insights at the Interface of Gender Equality and Business."

³⁵ "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries"; Grow Asia Communications, "Empowering Rural Women with AGREE: Tasing's Life on Philippine Cornfields," Grow Asia, October 15, 2023, <u>https://www.growasia.org/post/empowering-rural-women-with-agree-tasing-s-life-on-philippine-cornfields</u>.

³⁶ "Developing Gender-Sensitive Biosecurity Plans for Smallholder Farmers," AnimalHealth, accessed May 25, 2024, <u>https://www.fao.org/animal-health/resources/videos/developing-gender-sensitive-biosecurity-plans-for-smallholder-farmers/en</u>.

³⁷ Tricia Glazebrook, Samantha Noll, and Emmanuela Opoku, "Gender Matters: Climate Change, Gender Bias, and Women's Farming in the Global South and North," *Agriculture* 10, no. 7 (July 2020): 267, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture10070267</u>.

³⁸ Kaela Connors et al., "Women's Empowerment, Production Choices, and Crop Diversity in Burkina Faso, India, Malawi, and Tanzania: A Secondary Analysis of Cross-Sectional Data," *The Lancet Planetary Health* 7, no. 7 (July 1, 2023): e558–69, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(23)00125-0</u>.

³⁹ "Unseen Guardians."



⁴⁰ Robert D. Mare and Vida Maralani, "The Intergenerational Effects of Changes in Women's Educational Attainments," *American Sociological Review* 71, no. 4 (August 2006): 5542–64, https://doi.org/10.1177/000312240607100402.

⁴¹ "Pandemics Are Not Gender-Neutral, Gender Analysis Can Improve Response to Disease Outbreaks → UNIDIR," November 6, 2020, <u>https://unidir.org/pandemics-are-not-gender-neutral-gender-analysis-can-improve-response-to-disease-outbreaks</u>; "Community Perceptions of Ebola Response Efforts in Liberia: Montserrado and Nimba Counties," Social Science in Humanitarian Action Platform, accessed May 25, 2024, <u>https://www.socialscienceinaction.org/resources/community-perceptions-of-ebola-response-efforts-in-liberia-montserrado-and-nimba-counties/</u>.

⁴² Connors et al., "Women's Empowerment, Production Choices, and Crop Diversity in Burkina Faso, India, Malawi, and Tanzania."

⁴³ "Developing Gender-Sensitive Biosecurity Plans for Smallholder Farmers"; Imre Fertő and Štefan Bojnec, "Empowering Women in Sustainable Agriculture," *Scientific Reports* 14, no. 1 (March 26, 2024): 7110, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-57933-y</u>.

⁴⁴ Islam Ahmed et al., "From Digital Voices to Vaccine Choices: Increasing Female Vaccine Acceptance in Sudan through Social Listening," *Frontiers in Global Women's Health* 5 (February 12, 2024): 1288559, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fgwh.2024.1288559</u>.

⁴⁵ "Varsha Venugopal on Using Gossip to Help Vaccinate Every Child in India," 80,000 Hours, accessed May 31, 2024, <u>https://80000hours.org/podcast/episodes/varsha-venugopal-vaccinations-children-india/</u>.

⁴⁶ "Empowering Rural Women through Land Rights | ForumCiv," accessed June 1, 2024, https://www.forumciv.org/int/latest/empowering-rural-women-through-land-rights.

⁴⁷ "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries."

⁴⁸ "Developing Gender-Sensitive Biosecurity Plans for Smallholder Farmers"; Connors et al., "Women's Empowerment, Production Choices, and Crop Diversity in Burkina Faso, India, Malawi, and Tanzania"; "Investing in Women Means Investing in Sustainable Development," International Rice Research Institute, March 8, 2024, https://www.irri.org/news-and-events/news/investing-women-means-investing-sustainable-development.

⁴⁹ "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries"; Fertő and Bojnec, "Empowering Women in Sustainable Agriculture"; "GAP—Gender in Agriculture Partnership |Policy Support and Governance| Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations," accessed May 25, 2024, https://www.fao.org/policy-support/mechanisms/mechanisms-details/es/c/447495/.

⁵⁰ "Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women," accessed May 25, 2024, https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/.

⁵¹ "Women as Agents of Positive Change in Biosecurity," Science & Diplomacy, June 23, 2014, https://www.sciencediplomacy.org/perspective/2014/women-agents-positive-change-in-biosecurity.

⁵² ."GAD Budget," *Philippine Commission on Women* (blog), accessed May 25, 2024, <u>https://pcw.gov.ph/gad-budget-report/</u>.

⁵³ Ahmed S. Latif, "The Importance of Understanding Social and Cultural Norms in Delivering Quality Health Care—A Personal Experience Commentary," *Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease* 5, no. 1 (February 5, 2020):
22, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/tropicalmed5010022</u>; Whitney Wall et al., "Patients' Perceived Cultural Sensitivity of Health Care Office Staff and Its Association with Patients' Health Care Satisfaction and Treatment Adherence,"



Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved 24, no. 4 (November 2013): 1586–98, https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2013.0170.

⁵⁴ Fertő and Bojnec, "Empowering Women in Sustainable Agriculture."

⁵⁵ "Japan ASEAN Women Empowerment Fund (JAWEF)," BlueOrchard, accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://www.blueorchard.com/products/japan-asean-women-empowerment-fund-jawef/</u>.

⁵⁶ "Costs and Benefits of Applying a Gender-Transformative Approach in Agriculture Programming: Evaluation of the EKATA Model in Burundi," accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://www.careevaluations.org/wp-content/uploads/Win-Win-Final-Cost-Benefit-Analysis.pdf</u>.

⁵⁷ Laura Lundy, "'Voice' Is Not Enough: Conceptualising Article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child," *British Educational Research Journal* 33, no. 6 (December 2007): 927–42, https://doi.org/10.1080/01411920701657033.

⁵⁸ "Women's Leadership in the ASEAN Region: Data Snapshot."

59 "Women's Leadership in the ASEAN Region: Data Snapshot."

⁶⁰ "One Health: Seeing around Corners," n.d.

⁶¹ "Current Literature That Support the Shift to Asiacentric and Development Communication Paradigms in Dealing with the Understanding of Animal Health Risks and Biosecurity in Southeast Asia," accessed June 3, 2024, https://pidc.uplb.edu.ph/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/PJDC-7-2-07.pdf.

⁶² "ASEAN Women Entrepreneurs' Network (AWEN)," *ASEAN Business Advisory Council* (blog), accessed June 3, 2024, https://asean-bac.org/index.php/sector-champions/asean-women-entrepreneurs-network-awen/.

⁶³ "Unlocking Smallholder Finance for Sustainable Agriculture in Southeast Asia," accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://sustainablefinanceasia.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/WWF-2021-Unlocking-Smallholder-Finance-for-Sustainable-Agriculture.pdf</u>.

⁶⁴ "World Bank Open Data," World Bank Open Data, accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://data.worldbank.org</u>.

⁶⁵ Pornpimol Kongtip et al., "Differences among Thai Agricultural Workers' Health, Working Conditions, and Pesticide Use by Farm Type," *Annals of Work Exposures and Health* 62, no. 2 (February 13, 2018): 167–81, https://doi.org/10.1093/annweh/wxx099.

⁶⁶ "ASEAN Action Plan on Fall Armyworm Control"; "Strengthening Women's Entrepreneurship in Agriculture in ASEAN Countries."

⁶⁷ Soawapak Hinjoy et al., "An Overlooked Poultry Trade Network of the Smallholder Farms in the Border Provinces of Thailand, 2021: Implications for Avian Influenza Surveillance," accessed June 3, 2024, https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2024.1301513/full.

⁶⁸ "Gender Responsive Technology for Poverty Alleviation in Thailand," accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://www.fao.org/4/ae538e/ae538e06.htm</u>.

69 "Gender Responsive Technology for Poverty Alleviation in Thailand."

⁷⁰ "Gender Responsive Technology for Poverty Alleviation in Thailand."

⁷¹ "Gender Responsive Technology for Poverty Alleviation in Thailand."

⁷² "Gender Responsive Technology for Poverty Alleviation in Thailand."



⁷³ Sonia Akter et al., "Women's Empowerment and Gender Equity in Agriculture: A Different Perspective from Southeast Asia," *Food Policy* 69 (May 1, 2017): 270–79, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2017.05.003</u>.

⁷⁴ "Gender Responsive Technology for Poverty Alleviation in Thailand."

⁷⁵ "Gender Responsive Technology for Poverty Alleviation in Thailand."

⁷⁶ Akter et al., "Women's Empowerment and Gender Equity in Agriculture."

⁷⁷ "The 2021 Global Health Security Index," GHS Index, accessed June 3, 2024, <u>https://ghsindex.org</u>.

⁷⁸ "Global Gender Gap Report 2023," World Economic Forum, accessed June 3, 2024, https://www.weforum.org/publications/global-gender-gap-report-2023.

⁷⁹ Cathy Rozel Farnworth et al., "From Working in the Wheat Field to Managing Wheat: Women Innovators in Nepal," *The European Journal of Development Research* 31 (2019): 293–313, <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41287-018-0153-4</u>.

⁸⁰ "Female Share of Employment in Senior and Middle Management (%)—Cambodia, Brunei Darussalam, Thailand, Singapore, Myanmar, Philippines, Indonesia, Lao PDR," World Bank Open Data, accessed July 25, 2024, https://data.worldbank.org.

⁸¹ "Women in Parliament 2022," Inter-Parliamentary Union, August 19, 2024, https://www.ipu.org/resources/publications/reports/2023-03/women-in-parliament-2022.

⁸² Petra Dickmann et al., "Biological Risks to Public Health: Lessons from an International Conference to Inform the Development of National Risk Communication Strategies," *Health Security* 14, no. 6 (2016): 433–40, https://doi.org/10.1089/hs.2016.0050.

⁸³ Sophie Dennis and Dale Fisher, "Climate Change and Infectious Diseases: The Next 50 Years," *Annals of the Academy of Medicine, Singapore* 47, no. 10 (October 15, 2018): 401–4, <u>https://doi.org/10.47102/annals-acadmedsg.V47N10p401</u>.